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COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, thé United States Securities and Exchange Commission_ (“SEC” or
“Commission”), alleges as follows:
SUMMARY
1. This case involves a scheme to increase demand illegally for, and profit
from, the ﬁﬁregistered sale of publicly-traded stock in Defendant Spongetech Delivery

Systems, Inc. (“Spongetech” or the “Company”), a company that sells soap-filled



sponges. Defendants Michael Metter (“Metter”), Steven MoskoWitz (“Moskowitz”),
and Spongetech accomplished this by, among other things, “pumping” up demand for
Spongetech stock through false public statements about non-existent Spongetech
customers, bogus sales orders, and phony revenue. The pm]iose of ﬂboding the market
-. with false public information was to fraudulently inflate the price for Spongetech
shares, so Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech could then “‘dump” the shares by
illegally selling them to the public through affiliated entities in unregistered
transactions.

2. Defendants Metter, Spongetech’s Chief Exgcutive Ofﬁcef and a former
registered representative with a long disciplinary history, and Moskowitz, its Chief
Operating Officer, control both Spongetech and Defendant RM Enterprises
International, Inc. (“RM Enterprises”), Spongetech’s majority shareholder. RM
Enterprises is one of the conduits through which Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech
illegally distributed approximately 2.5 billion Spongetech shares at inflated prices.

3. Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech fépeatedly and
fraudulently exaggerated the demand for pre-soaped sponges by announcing in press
releases and public ﬁlings that Spongetech had received tens of millions of dollars in
orders for Spongetech products from five primary customers: SA Trading, US Asia .
Distribution Company or US Asia Trading (“US .Asia”), Dubai Export Import
Company (“Dubai’), Fesco Sales Corp. (“Fesco”), and New Century Media (“New
Century”). Defendants Métter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech knpwingly, or recklessly,

issued materially false or misleading press releases and made materially false or



misleading statéﬁlents in Commission filings when ther knew that these customers and
their’ orders Vdid not exist.

4. Defendant George Speranza (“Speranza”), a self-employed consultant
aésociated with Spongetech, knowingly, or recklessly, participated in the fraud by,
among other things, creating internet websites and virtual office spacehfor"the fictitious
-cﬁstomers with which Spongetech claimed to be doing millions of dollars of business
SO that. actual or prospective shareholders would believe the customers were legitimate.

:5'-. ~ Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech further advanced and
- concealed the fraud by causing the creation of false purqhase orders, invoices, and bills
“of lading, 'purportedly documenting thé fictitious orders received from, ~and'_sa]es to,

non—éx_istent customers.

6. . Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech illegally distributed __
approximately 2.5 billion Spongetech shares in ﬁnregistered transactions through
Defendant RM Enterprises and other affiliates, which acted as conduits for the
Defendants to distribute restricted shares in unregistered transactions to the public.

7.  Aspart of their scheme, Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, Spongetech,
and RM Enterprises used false and baseless attorney opinion letters render‘e(i by
Défendants J oel Pensley (“Pensley”), who is subject to an anti-fraud injunction and
‘who was the subjgct of an order pursuant to Rule 102(e) as a result of his role in
another scheme to sell securities in unregistered t:ransaction's; and by J éck Halperin
(“Halperin™) to'rdistﬁbute shares of Spongetech to the public. Defendants Pensley %Lnd
Halperin kﬁoWingl-y, or recklessly or negligently, made false or misleading statements

in their attorney opinion letters to Spongetech’s transfer agents who then impréperly



removed thé restrictive légends from Spongetech shares. This allowed RM Enterprises -
and other affiliates tQ. di.stribut‘e the éhares illegally in the public mafket in unregistered
transactions. Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech also used false. and
misleading attorney opinion letteré, forged in Pensley’s name and in the name of a
 fictitious lawyer, David BGmaﬂ (“Bomart”), which Moskowitz transmitted and caused
to be tranénn'tted to '.Spongetec‘h’s tré‘n’sfei agents. |

8. Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech also repeatedly and
fraudulently understated the nuin_bef of Spoﬁgetech’s outstanding shares in press
releases and public ﬁlmgs. These -Defendaﬁts knew, or were reckless in not knowing,
that Spongetech actually had hundreds of millions more outstaﬂding shares than they
reported. |

9. Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech spént portions of their
illicit profits to adyertise with peressiOnail sports teams and events to support their
claims that Spongetech was prosperous, such as highly visible sponsorship deals with
pfofession’al teams in Major Leégug: Baseball, the National Football League; the
National Basketball Associaﬁion, the Natioﬁal Hockey League, and the United States
Tennis Association.

10. At the direction of Défendants Metter and Moskowitz, Spongetech made 7
" false and fraudulent periodic filings with the SEC that contained material
misrepresentations about Spongetech’s _ordérs, Sa’les, and revenue derived from
transactions with the fictitious custonier_s and which understated the number of
authorized and outstanding shares issued by Spongetech. Metter and Moskowitz signed

and certified each of these filings as true and accurate when they knew, or were



reckless. in nof lﬂ)OWing, that the filings contained materially false q.nd misleading
statements.

11. - Spongetech failed to maintain, é.nd Metter and Moskowitz failed fo

| impiement, effective internal controls. They also faile.d _'to'ﬁl'e certain reports requifed
under Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1 934. Metter and Moskowitz
directly or indirectly made millions of dol-lafs in profit ﬁoﬁ_the sale of Spongetech
shares that eventually were distributed to the public market.

12. On October 5, 2009, the Commission suspended the trading of
Spongetech securities. The order stated that there was a lack of current and accurate
information concerning the securities of Spongete_ch because questibns had arisen
regarding the accuracy of assertions in pfess releases to investors and in periodic
reports filed with the Commission conéerning, among other things: (1) the amount of
sales and customer orders réceived by the compaﬁy; (2) the compény’s iﬂvestment
agreéments; and (3) the company;s revenues as repo'rted,.in its ﬁﬁancial statements. In
addition, the order stated that Sponggtech had not filed any periodic reports with the
Commission s_iﬁcé the p_eriod ended February 28, 2009. Since the expiration of the 10
day trading suspension, Spongetech shares have continued to trade on the grey market, '
iﬁ which trading takes place involving securities that are not quoted in’_any quotation
service. Since that date, Defendants Metter, Mosko@itz,-md Spongetéch have
continued to issue 'm.ater.ially false and misleading pre_ssreléases regarding Spongetech.

13. By engaging in this condﬁct, all the Deféndants ﬁolated, and unless restrained
aﬁd enjoined will continué to violate, the é.ntifraud_ proﬁsions of the. federal seéurities laws;

Defendants Spongetech, Metter, Moskowitz, RM Enterprises, Pensley, and Halperin violated,



and unless restrained and enjoinéd will continue to violate, the registré.tion provisions of the
federal securities laws; aiid Defendants Spongetech, Métter, and Moskowitz violzited, and unless
restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, the books and reccirds and internal sontrols
provisions of the federal securities laws. Finally, Defendants Metter and Moskoi»vitz have
violated, and unless restrained and-enjoined will continue to violate, Ssction 304 .of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) [15US.C. § 7243(a)].'

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14.  The Com_missi‘on brings this action pursuant to Section 20(b) of the
Semirities Act of 1_933.(“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)] and Section 21(d) of the
: Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)].'
15.  The Court has jurisdiction over this astion pursuant to Sections 20(d)
and 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d) and 77v(a)] and Sections 21(d),
21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act [15.U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa). The |
Defendants directly, and .indirecﬂy, used the means and instrumentalities of
transportation and communicatibri n iiiterstate commerce, or the mails, or the faciliiies
of a national securities exchinig‘e in connection with the transactions, acts, practices and
courses of business in this Cémplaint.
16, Vemueis proper because certain of the acts and transactions described
herein took place in this District.‘

. DEFENDANTS

17.  Defendant Spongetech Delivery Systems, Inc. is a Delaware corporation
‘with its principal place of business in New York, New York. At relevant times,

Spongetech also had a business address in Long Island City, NY. In or about April



N 2006, Spongetech registered the resale of shares ofits common stock with the SEC. It
latér‘ filed peniodic reports with the SEC under Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. On
or about Sci)tember 28, 2009, Spongetech filed a registration statement with the

‘Commission under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, which became effective on thé
same date. From 2006 until Qctober 5,'2'009, éponge’tech’ s common stock was quoted
on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Béérd as “SPNG” énd then as “SPNGE.” On
October 5, 2009, the SEC suspended Spongetech trading, after which Spongetech’s

' sfock continued to be traded on an unsolicited basis in the grey market. Spongetech is
delinquent 1n its ﬁlingsvwith the Commission: the last quarterly report Spongetech filed
was its Foﬁﬁ 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal year 2009 (,énded February 28, 2009),
which it filed on April 20, 2009. . As of March 24, 2010, there were 2,999,984,950
shares of Spongetech stock issued and outstanding.

18. | Defendant RM Enterprises International, Inc., is a Delaware corporation

.Wim its principal place of business in New York, New York. RM Enterprises is the

,m_aj ority shareholder of Spongetech and.is controlled by Metter and Moskowitz. Metter
and Moskowitz are the sole officers, serve as directors, and are currently the b_eneﬁcial '
owners of two-thirds of RM Enterprises. In vaxious Commission filings made between
2007 and 2009, Spongetech represented.thaf Mettér aﬁd Moskowitz were control
persons of RMI Ente_rpﬁsés. | |

| 19. | Defendant Steven Y. M,dskowit_z.is Spongetech’s Chief Operating

Ofﬁbe_r, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, and Secretary, and serves as

a.melﬁber of Spongetech’s Board of Directors. M_dskowitz is also an officer and

director of RM Enterprises. Moskowitz is also an officer, director, or both for a



~ number of companies, including Flo Weinberg, Inc., Tiburon Capital Group, and SEC

repdrting companies Vanity Events Holding Company, Inc., Map IV Acquisition, lncr.,

Map VI Aéquisition Inc., and Solar Thin Films, Inc. Moskowitz is believed to reside in

Flushing, New York.

20.  Defendant Michael L. Metter is Spongeftech’s President and Chief
Executive Officer. He is also President of RM Enterprises and a member of its Béard
of Directors. Metter serves as'an officer and/or director of, among others, Tiburon
Capital Group, Flo Weinberg, Inc., and Busiﬁess Talk Radio.net. Metter is a former
registered re’pi'e.sentat_ive with an extensive disciplinary history in¢luding' ten customer
complaixits, one infemal review, and a termination. Metter is believed t_o reside in
Greénwich, Connecticut.

21.  Defendant George Speranza is a self-employed consultant associated
with Spongetech who operated thé internet stock hype site “nohypenobuil.com,”
Speranza is believed, to reside in Brooklyn, New York.

'22; Defendant J o.el Pensley is an attorney licensed fo practice law in Néw
York. From 1999 through sometime in 2005, Pensley was Sp_ongétech’é cbrporat_e
counsel. P'ensley. was previously enjoined from future violations of Sécﬁriti'es Aét |
Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a), and Exchange Act Secfioh IO(i)) and Rule 10b-5 on

Novémber_ 14, 1998, as a result of his role in another scheme to sell securities in

unrégis_tered transactions. SEC v. DiMauro, et al., No. 98 Civ. 6349 (LAP) (S.D.N.Y. \

filed Sept. 9, 1 998). Based on the entry of this injunction, on January 7, 1999, the
- Commission issued an administrative order pursuant to Rule 102(e) denying him the |

privilege of practicing or appearing before the Commission, with the right to reapply



after thfee years. In the Matter of joel Pensley, Rel. No. 34-40890 (January 7, 1999).
| P'ensiey is believed to reside in Noffolk, .Connecticut. '
23.  DefendantJ aék Halperin is an attorney licensed to practice law in New
B : Ybric. From J‘une.12, 2009, through approximately September 29, 2009, Halperin was
_Vretained by Spongetech to perform corporate services. Halperin is. believed to reside m
' New York, New York. V, | |

RELATED ENTITIES AND INDIVIDUALS

24, Olde Monmouth ‘St(')ck_ Transfer Co., Inc., a stock transfer agent located
in Atlantic Highlands, New J ersey, was .Spongetecﬁ’s transfer agent from 2006 uﬁtil
 June 2009, |

25. Woﬂdwide Stock Tfansfer Co., LLC, a stock transfer agent located in
Hackeﬁsack, New Jersey, haé been Spongetech’s transfer agent since June 2009 to the |
present. |

FACTS
THE PUMP
FaiSe_Press Releases

. 26.  Prior to in or around 2007, Sp_ongetech had relatively little business. :
' Froi_n Spdngetech’s incepﬁon in 1999 through approximately May‘ 31, 2007, a single .
gustomgar comprised the bu]k of Spo.r_xgetech’vs limited sales. Spongetech’s auditdré
issued opinions questioning Sp(‘).ngetech’s.'ab‘ility to continue as a going concern during
fiscal years 2002 through 2007. |
o 27. | Begihm'ng in or around April 2007, however, Metter, Moskowitz, and

Spongete,ch-be’gan to paint a more promising, and misleading, picture of Spongetech’s



business. From approximately April 2007 ti]rougﬁ the present, Spongetech, Metter, and
Moskowitz issued numerous false and frandulent press releaseé toutjng increasingly
larger, yet ﬁétitious, sales orders and revenue.

28. The fréﬁdulent press releases referenced ofders, bu_éiness, and revenue
primarily from five customers that did not exist: SA'Trading, US Asia, Dubai, Fesco,

, and New Century. Each of these customers is a fictitious entity which did not place
orders or do business with Sbongetech.

29. Spongetech, Metter, and Moskowitz_ also issued press releases vastly
understating the volume of Spongetech’s outstanding shares, and falsély claiming that
Spongetech intended to reduce its outstanding shares.

30. - Spongetech, Metter, and Moskowitz made these fraudulent statements to
mislead investors iﬁto beiieving that Spongetech was a.th:iving company with
extensive demaﬁ(i for its pr‘oducts.. For example:

Representative Press Releases

31.  Apnl 30, 2007, Press Release. On or about April 30, 2007, Spohgetech issued a

press release claiming that it had “signed a Letter of Intent (LOI) to sell 1,500,000 Car Wash and
Car Wax sponges to exporter, SA Trading Group Corp. * * * an exporter of automotive products
to South America.” In-fact, thére was no Letter of Intent from this non-existent customer. - The
April 30, 2007, press release contained a misleading quote from Moskowitz:

“Steven Moskowitz, Chief Financial Officer of Spongetech

Delivery Systems stated “This is an exciting time for our company.

We look forward to finalizing our agreement with SA Trading

Group Corp and beginning our sales and distribution in South
America.”” :

10



32, July 10, 2008, Press Release. On or about July 10, 2008, Spongetech issued a

press release titled “SpongeTech® Dehvery Systems, Inc. Receives Imtlal Order from S A
Trading for New Tub and tile Sponge and Floor Sponge for $4,155,075 USD[;] SpongeTech s®
‘New Products will be shipped to South America in January 2009.” In fact,.there was 1o initial
~ order of $4,155,075 of Spongetech products from this non-existent'customer. ‘The July 10, 2008,
press release contained a misleading quote from Moskowitz:

“SpongeTech’s® COO, Steven Moskowitz said, ‘We are excited about

these new products and the initial order from S A Trading. These

sponges will be sold to consumers in supermarkets, drug store chains,

and large retailers, such as Wal-Mart South America, as well as for
commercial use in hotels and restaurants.””

33. - August 4, 2008, Press Release. On or about August 4, 2008, Spongetech |
issued a press release titled ;‘SpongeTech® Delivery Systems, Inc. Receives Second
‘ Re-order in Excess of $4,250,000 Patented Sponge Products from Dubai! !”I The
August 4, 2008, press release claimed that “Dubai Export Import Company, in Dubai,”
-had placed a “second re-order’ ’ for “210,000 units™ and a new order of “10,000 units.”
According to the August 4, 2008, press release, orders from “Dubai Export Irnport
Company”” amounted to “in excess of $4,250,000,” would “be paid in full prior to
shipping,” and were “expected to ship * * * by De’cember 15, 2008.” In fact, there was
no r‘e-erder in excess of $4.25 million of Spongetech productsr from this non-existent
- customer. The August 4, 2008, press release con_tai_ned a rnisleading quote from |
Moskowitz: o
“SpongeTech®"s COO, Steven Moskdwitz-.said, “We are very pleased _
with the third and biggest order of 210,000 units. The first in November

was 1 1,000 units, the second was 55,000 units in April, and now this
one. What a show of positive response to our products in Dubai!””

11



34, February 3, 2009, Press Release. On or about February 3, 2009, .

Spongetech issued a press release claiming that it had “retired another thlrty million
shares (30,000,000),” leaving Spongetech’s “issued and outstanding” shares “at
,approximately 7_00;000,00.0.” The February 3, 2009, press release contained a
‘misleading quote from Metter:

“SpongeTech® Delivery Systéms, Inc., CEO,_Mich-ael Metter said, _

‘Since we began our efforts, we have retired approximately 260 million

shares to treasury; decreasing the issued and outstanding by

approximately 29%! This should be a very positive statement to our

investors, shareholders, and the public market that we are growing and

here to stay.””

35.  This press release was false. When that press release was issued,

Spongetéch had approximately 1.2 billion outstanding shares. Spongetech, Moskowitz,
and Metter knowingly or recklessly understated thé number of outstanding shares by

more than 500 million shares.

36.  April 15, 2009, Press Release. On or about April 15, 2009, Spongetech

issued a press release that claimed “record sales of over $13,000,000 for the third
quarter ending February 28, 2009.” The April 15, 2009, press release claimed that
“[f]or the nine-month period ended February 28, 2009, the company reported re\}enu_es
of .abouf.$3_l ,OO0,0QO * % % The April 15, 2009, press release cbntained a misleading
© quote ‘fr.om’Metter: |

“SpongeTech® CEO, Michael Metter said, ‘“We have just concluded a
fantastic third quarter 2009, even though our country has been in a very
difficult economic environment, [sic] the company continues to '
experience significant growth. The company’s success is attributed to
strong sales of all of our products utilizing an expanding diverse
marketing strategy. We began making shipments to retail outlets and
distributors across the United States and we anticipate finishing off the
fiscal year very strong.””

12



37.  Spongetech grossly and materially overstated its sales for the quarter and
the nine-month period ended February 28, 2009. Spongetech had no significant
customer base when it issued the April 15, 2009, press release, and Metter grossly and
materially exaggerated the extent of Spongetech’s nationwide distributiqn.

38.  July 29, 2009, Press Release. On or about July 29, 2009, Spongetech

issued a press .release claiming that it was “taking action” to “reduce the number of
common shares that the Company has authorized to 900,000,000’; and to “lower its
outstanding shares to approximately 500,000,000 shares. The July 29, 2009, press
release contained a misleading quote from Metter':
““We are excited to be movin'g' quickly to completé the process of
reducing both our authorized and outstanding shares as well as provide
clarity,” commented Michael Metter, CEO of SpongeTech®. ‘This
significant reduction is an expression of both the progress that the
Company and its innovative product lines have made to date.””

39.  Metter, .M(oskc_)witz, and Sponéétech vasﬂy understated the number of
Spongetech’s outstanding shares to hidé the large number of shares in the market place.
As of the July 29, 2009, ptess release, Spbngetech had more than 2.4 billion
outstanding shares. Instead of reducing the number of its outstanding shares,
Spongetech issued another 150 million new shares within twelve business days of its
July 29, 2009, press release. Of those newly issued shares, 118 million shares went to
RM Enterprises, the en_tify Metter and Moékowitz controlled. At the time they issuned
the press release, Spongetech, Metter, and Moskowitz had no intention of retiﬁn'g
significant amounts of outstanding Spongetech sharés.

40.  Between on or about April 2007 and the present, Spongetech, Metter,

- and Moskowitz issued at least sixteen other Spongetech press releases which contained

13



" similar false and misleading statements regard_iﬁg Spongetech’s orders, customers,
financial pérformance, and outstanding shares. These include i)ress re]easés dated on or
about April 30, 2007; June 28, 2007, De_cember 20, 2007, March 4, 2008; April 14,
2008; Mﬁy 30, 2008; July 30, 2008; October 21, 2008; January 8, 2009; March 31,

'2009;, June 9, 2009; June 29, 2609; July 16, 2009; July 31,'2009;_August 17,_2009; and
September 1, 2009. | | |

41.  Moskowitz and Metter reviewed and approved Spongetech_press
releases. ' When Moskowitz and Metter approved the press releases, they knew, or were
reckless in not knowing, that the press releases contained materially false or misleadiﬁg
statements. :
False and Fraudulent Public Filings
42. Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech further perpetrated the scheme
throilgh materially false or misleading statements they made in Spongetech’s public |
Cbmnljssipn filings: |

a. FY 2008 10-KSB: On or about August 29, 2008, Spongetech filed an

annual report, on Form 10-KSB, with the SEC, for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2008.

Me&er, Moskowitz and a member of Spongetech’s Audit Comnﬁttee signed this filing.

b. First Quarter FY 2009 10-Q: On or about October 15, 2008,
A Spqngetech_ ﬁléd a quarterly report with the SEC reporting on Fénn 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended'August 31, 2008. Metter and Moskowitz signed this filing.

c. Second Quarter FY 2009 10-Q: On or-about January 1..4, 2009,

- Spongetech filed a qﬁarterly report with the SEC on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter

ended November 30, 2008. Metter and Moskowitz Sig_xled this filing.

14



~ d. Third Quarter FY 2009 10-Q: On or about April 20, 2009,

~Spongetech filed a quarterly report with the SEC on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter

ended February 28, 2009. Metter and Moskowitz signed this filing.

3.

In connection with each filing, Metter and Moskowitz signed

certifications in which they represented that:

44.

a. - based on their knowledge, the report * [d1d] not contain any
untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances

~under which such statements were made, not misleading;”

b.  based on their knowledge, “the financial statements and other

financial information in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, result of operations and cash flows of”
Spongetech

C. | they had each “estabhsh[ed] and maintain[ed] disclosure controls
and procedures * * * and internal controls over financial reportlng

- among other thmgs ‘ensure that material information provided,” and to

“provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnanc1al

| reportmg, and

d they had each disclosed to Spongetech’s auditors “all significant

deficiencies” in “internal controls” and “any fraud, whether or not

material, that 1nvolves management,”

Despite those representations, Metter, Moskowitz, and Spongetech

knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that each filing contained materially false and

fraudulent statements. Among other things, the filings referenced sales, agfeem_ents,

and orders from SA Trading, US Asia, Dubai Export Import Company, Fesco Sales

‘ C(Srp.5 and New Ce_:ntlﬁ'y Media, none of which existed. Metter, MoskoWitz, and

Spongetech made these 'statemvents to mislead investors into believing that Spongeteéh_

was a thriving company with extensive demand for its products.

15



45.  FY 2008 10-KSB: For example, Spongetech’s 2008 10-KSB

represented that “[d]uring the ﬁscai year ended May 31, 2008, three customers [src] for
an aggregéte of approximately 70.5% olf our sales. Our three largest customers during
the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008 are SA. Trading Company, US ‘Asia Tratlin_g, and |
Dnt)ai Export _Irnport Company.” It also repre'sented'that Spongetech “had sales of 7 |
$4,633,084 for the fiscal year ended 'Maiy 31, 2008 as compared to $55,112 for the

. fiscal yeér ended Mery 31,__2'(507, an increase of $5,577,972.” In fact, as Metter,
Moskowitz, and Spongetech well knew, or were reckless in not knowing, ‘Spongetech
had nowhere near $4.6 million in sales because ﬁctitiou_s customers were responsible

for “70.5% of [Spongetech’s] sales.”

46. First Quarter FY 2009 10-Q: As another example, Spongetech’s Q1
2009 10-Q represented that “[f]or the first quarter ended August 31, 2008, three
customers, SA Tradjng Company, US Asia Trading, e.nd Dubai Export Import_ |
Company, accounted for 67.6 percent of our sales.” It also represented that Spongetech
had exceeded $5.5 million in revenue for the three-month—period ending on August 31,
© 2008. In fact, as Metter and Moskowitz well k‘new,. or were reckless in not knowing,
Spongetech had nowhere near $5.5 million in sales for that period because ﬁctitious
customers were respon51ble for “67.6 percent of [Spongetech s] sales

47. Second Ouarter FY 2009 lO-O Smnlarly, Spongetech’s Q2 2009 10-Q

represented that “[f]or the six months ended November 30, 2008 three customers SA
Tradmg Company, Dubai Export Import Company and New Century Media, accounted
for 82.9 percent of sales.” It also rep_resented that Spongctech had exceeded $12

million in revenue for the thréeémo_nth—period ending on November 30, 2008. In fact,

: .'16‘



as Metter and Moskowitz well knew, or were reckless in not knowing, Spongetech had
nowhere near $12 million in revenue for that period because ﬁctitiou,s-customers were
responsible for “82.9 pefcent of [Spongetech’s] sales.”

: 48. Sﬁongetech’s Second Quarter FY 2009 IO-Q also represented that, “[a]s
. of April 16, 2009, the Company had 722,866,061 shares of common stock issued-and
outstanding.” As of April 16, 2009, the date referenced in Spongetech’.s Q2 2009 10-Q,
Spongetech had approximately 1.6 billion outstanding shares. As Mettef and
Moskowitz well kne_w, or were reckless in not knowing, Spbngetech’s Q2 2009 10-Q
- understated the number of outstanding Spongetech shares by more than .9.00 million
‘shares.

49.  Third Quarter FY 2009 10-Q: Spongetech’s Q3 2009 I-O-Q represented

that “[f]or the nine months ended February 28, 2009, six customers, SA Trading
Company, US As_ia-Trading, Dubai Export Import Company, FescoiSales Corp., New
Century Media and Walgreens, accounted for 99.4 percent 6f sales.” Spoﬁgetech’s Q3
2009 10-Q aiso represented that Spongetech had exceeded $31 million in revenue for
the nine-month-period ending on February 28, 2009. In fact, as Metter and Moskowitz
well knew, or were reckless in not knowiﬂg, Spongetech had nowhere near $31 million
in revenue for that period because fictitious customers were fésponsib_l_é for “99.4
percent of [Spongetech’s] sales._”,

| 50.  Spongetech’s sales to Walgreehs were on a consignment basis and
totaled less than $200,000 for the .period.

51:  Metter and Moskowifz, reviewed, approved, and certified Sbongetech’»s

false and misleading public filings. Metter and Moskowitz knew, or were reckless in
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not-knowing, that the»publié filings éontained materially false and ﬁaﬁdulen’t

information and statements, and failed to includé addiﬁonal material necessary to make

the statements and information, in light of the circumstances in which they were made,
not.mi:sleading.

52. | Spongetech is delinquent in its ﬁl_ings; Spongetech is requi;ed to file quartefly.

.and annual reports but has faiied to file such reports for.the periods ended May 31, 2009, August |
| 3‘1 , 2009, November 30, 2009, and Fébruary .28, 2010. It has not filed any quarterly or annual -
reports since April 20, 2009, for the pe;iéd ended February 28, 2009. Metter and Moskowitz
.aided and abetted .Spoﬂgete’ch’s failure to file the required reports.

Concealing The Fraud

Speranza

53. Investors and others began to raise questions about Spongetech’s
_ pmported customers, sales ordell"s,vand reported revenue.

54. .On or about September 4, 2009, SEC staff subpoenaed Spongetech -
.seeking customer contact information. On or about September 9, 2009, Spongetech’s
auditor also requested customéf addresses from Spongetech.

55. On or about September 1,_2009;SRM Enterprises paid Defendant
Sper_anza $10,000. Nine days later, on or about September 10, 2009, RM Enterprises
_paid Speranza anothér $5,000. Beginrﬁng m éarly September 2009, ‘Speranza creéted
virtual _storefronts for the non-existent customers, SA Trading, US Asia, Dubat, Fesco,

| and New Century, to conceal the fact that'the& were not real customers.
: 56. | On or before September 10, 2009, Speranza created and registered

websites for SA Trading, US Asia, Dubai, Fesco, and New Century that showcased
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Spongetech (and other) .products and prqvided information on how to purchase these
products. Speranza created the websites to make the.ﬁctitious customers appear to be
legitimate businesses

- 57.  Speranza maintained the websites and had emails sent to thé websites’
forwarded to his own email account. Speranza recgiVed: emails djfected to thé websites
that asked about Spongetech. Speranza knew thaf the websites, and the information
they contained were publicly available forl.viewing by Spongetech shérého-lders.

58. Onor abbut September 10, 2009, to conceal his identify, Speranza
registered the domain names of each-“cusfdmer” internet website with DQméins By
Proxy, Inc., a'privéte registration service that prevents access to the personal identifyihg
information of the registrant. |

- 59. On or about September 25, 2009, Speranza established virtual Q_fﬁces for
SA Trading; US Asia, Dubai, Fesco, New C_entu-r_y,' and Multi. Média Sales (another
fictitious customer). On or about September 22, 2009, Spéranza vc.on_t'acted DaVinci
. Virtual Office Solutions (“DaVinci”) to arrangé for temporary office space for the
fictitious companies. Speranza. paid DaVinci with a set of gift cards he pufchased.

60.  Speranza directed ]jaVinci to forward all emails, faxes, and voicemails
received by the virtual offices to his email address. Speranza created fictitious contaqt
persons for each fictitious comp‘anﬁl and establiéhed accounts in theﬁ naniéé, including
Steven Chin (U.S. Asia), Jim Rogers (Fesco), and Ahmed E]sayedA(]")ﬁBa'i). DaVinci
eStabli‘shed_ tempoiary offices ;(md telephone numbers for thve‘ ﬁc_:titioﬁs_Sponget_ech

customers.

19



- 6l. Onor ab.out_ September 23, 2009, DaVinci terminated Speranza’s
: accoiuit. This occurred around the time that the New York Post published a seriéé of .
negative articles about Spongetech, including a reporter’s efforts to ﬁack downr
‘Spongetech’s alleggd customers. -

62. Onor abéut Septémber 25, 2009, Speranza contacted Regus, anotﬁer

" v’iﬁual ofﬁce,c’ompany, and established virtual offices and telephone nﬁm_bers for.
Spongetech’s fictitious customers. Speranza again paid with gift cards and used
ﬁ_ctitibus contact ﬁarr’ies for each c'ﬁstomer, including Steven Chin (U.S. Asia), Jim
‘Rogers (Fesco), and Ahmed Elsayed (Dubai). He also provided Regus. with his own
email address and telephone number..

63. Onor Iabout September 25 , SEC staff contacted Spongetech’s COunsel
-and requested that Spqngetech iMediateiy produce contact information for the six
,largesf customérs identiﬁed.in ité Form IO—Q fc;r the period ended February 28, 2009:
SA Tfading, US Asia, Dubai, Fesco, New Century, and Walgreens.

64. On or ébout_Septefnber 28, at approximately 5:40 a.m., Mettef sent an
email to Speranza fequestiﬁg the contact “numbers that Steven [Moskowitz] said you
'wére going to suppiy for the regulators.”: Metter renewed his request thrOu'ghout the
day. At 5:00 p.m., Speranza provided Mettgr with telephone numbers for SA _Trading;
- Fesco, and US Asia.. ’l_"hose'were the -séxﬂe‘telephone numbers_assigned by Regus, thé '
virtual office company...

| 65. On o_r.ab'outr September 25, 20(‘)9,. and September 28, 2009, ﬂlen-qounsel
for Spongetech -brovided the Cbmﬁﬁséion with what was purported to be cqntact |

~ information for each of Spongetech’s six largest customers. That information included
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'ﬂ:le ﬁcﬁtioUs' éontact names Speranza created and the éddrésses and telephone numbers
for each of the virtual offices Speranza estéblished. .

66. Spéranza knew, or was feckless n ﬁot knowing, that the customers did
'not..ex'-ist and that he was misleadin_g the public by creating websiteé, \./irtuial offices, and
other fake infqnnafion for them. | |

| . False Purchase Ordefs And Books And Records h

67. Spongetech, Moskowitz, and Metter also furthered and concealed the
fraud by ciirectly or indirectly creating matériall_y false and misleading purchase orders,
‘Vinvoices and bills of'ladiﬁg. On September 4, 2009, SEC staff subpqen_aed Spongetech
for documents concerning Sp'ongetech’s sales and cu'st'o.mers.' In or around October
2009, Spongetech, Moskowitz, énd Mguef caﬁsed fo be provided false and misleading
| purchasc orders, invoiées, and bills of lading to _SEC staff.
68.  Metter aﬁd Moskqwitz were responsible for the adequacy :of
: Spongetech’s books and records and the sufficiency of Spongetech’s internal controls.
Metter and Mpskowitz failed to ensure that Spongetech maintained accurate books and
records., and they failed to implement effective internal controls.
| ' THE DUMP
69.  After inflating the price for Spongetech -;securitieS through materially
_'false and fraudulent preés feleéses and public filings, Metter, Moskowitz, Spongetecﬁ,
.and,RM Entelpﬁ'se_s‘ furthered their scheme by d_1-1n'1ping appréy;imately 2.5 billion of
- Spongetech shares on the markét in muégisfered_ transactions. |
- 70. From 2007 to 2009, at_thc_ direction of Meﬁer and Moskowitz,

Spongetech engaged in a scheme to evade the registration provisions of the securities
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laws by engaging in a‘single, con_tihuous unregistered qulic foéﬁﬁg of securities. In
private placement ﬁansactions exécuted between on or about March-'15,2007, and at
least September 2009, Spongetech issued appfoximately 2.5 billion res_tricted__ shares to
its affiliate, RM Enterpn'lses, and other affiliated entities, whén t_hére was no registration
statement in effect. Spéngetegh,-at the dir,e‘ction. of _Metter and qukowitz, in effect,
used RM Enterprises and other afﬁliates as conduits through which Sﬁbngétééh-
dumped it.s shares. | |

Spongetech Issued Shares To _RM'And Other Affiliates
In Unregistered Transactions As Conduits For Public Distribution

71. To begiﬁ the dump, Spéngetech', at the direcﬁoh bf Mettér énd
Moskowitz, issﬁed restricted shares to RM Enterprises and other afﬁliates. ‘In
Commission ﬁlings, signed by, reviéwed, or approved by Meﬁé; Vand M_oskowitz,
Spongetech claimed the transactions were exempt from Commissién r_egistrat_ion'
requirements. In féct, they were neither exempt from registrétion nor were the
trarisactiéns registered. - | |

72. The affiliated entities, beybnd RM Enterprises, thr.ough' which Metter,
Moskowitz, and Spongetech fuﬁneled Spongetech shares include, but_‘arle not limited to,
Asset Management Enterprises, AIT Capital, and We_sléy. Equi_ﬁes. Each of t.hes_e :

' entiﬁes shares an add.re.ss with RM Enterprises and is owﬁed or cop’trolled'_by
Sppngetech, RM Enterprises.,,'their afﬁliatcé, or efi}ployées. RM Enterprises, fof | .' '
éxampie, wholly 'owﬁs AIT Capital. 'Spongetech em_bloyees are pfesidents éf AIT
Capital, Wesley Equities, and Assét Management Enterprises. All thre_e eﬁtities, at_b the
di'recﬁon of Metter.an‘d. Moskowitz; aiso ﬁmétioﬁe_d as conduits to funnel procééds from

the unregistered sale of Spongetech stock back to RM Enterprises. =
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73: Beﬁ»veen in or- around June 24, 2009, and October 13, 2009,.qungetech
dlstnbuted approximately over 300 million restricted shares to_Asset Management |
Entefprises, AIT Capital, and Wesley Equities in unregistered transactions. Spongetech
: disﬁibﬁted the remainder of tﬁe 25 billien. silares to RM Enterprises. |
74. . Spongetech, at the direction of Metter and Moskowitz, claimed an =
| ‘exemption and safe harbor under Sectioh 4(2) of fhe Securities Act and Rule 506 of
Regulation D for the offer and sales to RM Enterbrises and the other affiliates. Both
pfovisions require the issuer to exercise reasonable care to assure that the securities are
purchased for investment and not with a'view to publie distribution. In fact, thes_e
provisions did not -_apply Because Spengetecﬁ, at the direcﬁon__ of Metter and M_osk_owitz, :
.is'.sued' the restricted shares-for the very purpose of publicly distributing them by
'fl'mileling th_efn through RM Enterprises and other affiliates as conduits.

Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, Spongeteeh; And RM'Enterprises Used False An_d
‘Forged Attorney Opinion Letters To Dump Shares Onto The Public Market

75. To dump the restricted Spongetech shares onto the market, Metter,
Moskowitz, Spongefech, and RM Enterprises obtained and used attorney opinion letters
jus’tifﬁng the removal of restricted legends from Spongetech’s shares.

76. RM Enterprises and others, at the direction of Metter and Mpskowitz,
dumped the restricted shares onto the public market through multiple metheds. In .one '
.'.w.ay, Spongetech, Metter, MoSkowitz, and RM Enterprises used bogus and false legal
~_opinions eifing the guidance under Co_mmission Staff _Legal Bulletin No. 4. These -
-opinion letters v‘v'ere sent to Spon_getech’s transfef agent who then improperly removed
restrictive legends from Spongetech shares that were later sold to the public. In |

: anoth_er, Spongetech, Metter, MOskoWitz, and RM Enterprises used bogus and false
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opinion letters clajming a safe harbor under Rule 144 of the Securities Acf and seekjngr
removal of thé restrictive legends from Spongetech shares held by RM Ehterprises on-
fhat basis, which were later sold to the public. Pensley and Halperin, who authored '
certain attorney opinion leﬁeré,_lmo_wing_ly or recklessly made materially false or |

' misleading statements to Spoﬁgetech’s transfer égénts who tﬁen impfoperly removed

restrictive legends from Spongetech shares.

Pensley Letters

77. In 2007, Pensley, Spongetech’s former corporate counsel, was hired to
write attorney opinion letters requesting the remeal of rest_rictivc légends from
Sbongetech stock held by purported RM Enterprises shareholders so the sfock could be
sold into the publi;: markét. '

78. From March 15, 2007, to June 19, 2007, Pensley drafted at least four
attbmey opinion 1etters, dated on or about March 15, 2007; April .23, 200"]; Ma& 18,
2007; and _J une 19, 2007; each citing Commission Staff Legal Bulletin No. 4 as the
basis for removing restrictive legends from Sponget_eph stock. Pensley; at the direction
of or with the knowledge and approval of Metter and Moskowitz, transmitted these four
letters to Spongetech’s -then;transfer agent, Olde Moﬁmouth, resulﬁng in the
unlegending of 12,000,000 restricted shares. The bulk Qf theSe shares were sold in the
public market in .un_registéred tr_anséctions. |

79.  Stock may bé distributed in an unregistered “spin-off” transaction if certain
cqnditioris in'Staff Legal Bulletin No. 4 are met'. Among other tMﬁgs, the shares distributed by a-
parent compa.ny in the “spin-off” r'r.lust.have'been held for at least two years; the “spin-off” must

be for a valid business purpose; the shares must be “spun-off” pro rata to the parent’s
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shareholders; the parent shareholders may not provide consideration for the “spun-off” shares;
and the distribution may not Be for value.
-80. In each of the four opinion letters, Pénsley falsely represented that RM
| Enterﬁ'l;iseé, as the parent of Spongetech, Was “spinnir_l_g-off ’ sh>ares of Spongetech to
RM Enterprises’ shareholdérs, aﬁd thus the _trénsfcr‘ égcnt could remove the restrictive
_légends from the “sbun—off > shares. At the time he wrote the four attorhey opinion
letters, Pensley knew, or was reckless in not knowi_flg, Itht.lt Staff Legal Bulletin No. 4
did not appiy to the transactions and that fhere was no proper basis to remové the
restﬁctive legends from Spongetech’s Stoqk.
| 81.  For example, Pensley knew thét RM Enterprises was issuing the shares
for consideration and that the shares were not béing “spun off” pro rata to RM
Enterprises shareholders. Pensley himself received shares in these transactions és
cOmpensétion for his services, and he did no_t kﬁow the ratio of his own shares. Pensley
“also falsely opinéd that RM Enterprises had valid business purposes for thé issuances,
whgn he knew this representation was untrue.
82. As Pensley knew, or was reckless in not knowing, no valid exemption or
safe harbor from registration applied to the transactions relating to the 12,000,000
restricted Spongetech shares. -

' Forged Pensley Letters

83. = From July 2007 through May 2009, Moskowitz continued to send and
ccause to be sent to Olde Ménmouth- opinion letters Pensley purportedly authored.
There were approximately 216.letters issued under Pensley’s name between July 2007

and May 2009, which were based on Staff Legal Bulleﬁn No. 4 and resulted in the
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removal of restn'ctive legends on over one billion shares of Spongetech stock RM
Entef,prisési_ neld. These unlegended shares were sold into the public market in
‘ ‘unregistered_-transa_ctions when no exemption or safe harbor from the registrétion
re;.c-luj.rernents was nvailable. |

84. .Although the forged letters contain the same substantive text and false
Vreprescntat.ions_ss the four previous Pensley letters, they also contain dates(' and names
of the beneficiaries in a different font type and size than Pensley used in the prior
letters. o |

85. In May 2009, a broker contacted Olde Monmouth to report his concerns
about discrepancies and inconsistencies in the typeface and text of the forged Pensley
l_etters. .OIde Monmouth contacted Pensley, who i/eriﬁed that he had nof wr-itten— any
attoméy opinion letters since 2007.

86. Mo_sknwitz knew that Pensley had not aufnnred the _opinjon l_ett&s he |
(Moslgowit'z) sent to Olde Monmouth from July 2007 through May 2009. Moskowitz

falsely repfesentéd to Olde Monmouth’s attorney that Pensley had given him written

permission td_ alter and reuse the opinion letters that Pensley originally drafted.

-Moskowitz’s “David Bomart” Opinion Letférs
-87. In May."2009, VO'lde Monmouth’s a_ttnme'y received an email purportedly |
from S'p'ong'etech’s new lawyer, “David Bomaﬂ,"’- copied to MoSkbwitz and another
Spongetech ex_nnloyee. In this email, “Bomart” wrote:
“Let me intfodUce‘myself [sic] I’11 be handling the legél opinion‘ for
Spongetech Delivery System and R M Enterprises. ' I'll be working with
the Spongetech staffing the next few days to replace all of Mr. Pensley's
_opinion’s [sic] which after review the company didn’t forge but [sic]

. seems to be a monetary dispute which will be resolved in the months to
come. Ihave know [sic] Mr. Moskowitz and the company a long time

26



[sic] this [sic] not something they would do. So we will be replacing all
of Mr. Pensley’s opinion’s [sic] who has reneged on his deal with the
company. How should we proceed [sic] by fedex these opinion’s or e- -
mail them to you or both for your files. Thank you in advance for your
cooperation in this matter, [sic]
Also Mr. Moskowitz says your Transfer agent is one of the best he has
worked with [sic] can I get cost information to switch some of my public.
companies to you. I look forward to working with you and your staff in
days to come.” ' - o
88.  Onthe same day Oldé Monmouth’s attomeyv received the “Bomart”
email, Moskowitz forwarded to Olde Mohmouth the first of nine “Bomart” attorney
opinion letters. These nine “Bomart’,’, opinion lettérs, which were based on Staff Legal
Bulletin No. 4, led to the removal of restrictive legends from more than 100 million”
shares of Spongetech stock held by RM_Enterprises which were later sold into the
public market.

89.  David Bomart does not exist and is not an attorney licensed to practice
law in New York. Ther¢ also is no law firm named “Bomart, Cone & Rolland,”
Bomart’s purported law firm. Moskowitz knew that David Bomart did not author the
nine “Bomart” attorney opinion letters he sent to Olde Monmouth.

90. = After counsel for Olde Monmouth expressed concerns about the
authenticity of the “Bomart letters” to M_o,ékowitz, including that the Bomart
corr_espondencé letterhead bore Moskowitz’s fax nuniber, Mo_skowitz é.ssured Olde
Monmouth's lawyer that Bomart existed and that he worked out of Moskowitz's office
on occasion. Moskowitz then offered to set up a conference call between couhsel,_f_or
Olde_Moninouth and “Bomart.” On ,thé_ day of the scheduled teleconference call, '

‘Moskowitz abruptly fired Olde Monmduth. No further “Bomart” opinion letters were |

issued.
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Halmrin Letters |
91. Beginning in June 2009, Spoiigetech’s_'new transfer agent, Worldwic‘le
: 'Stock, began removinig restrictive legerids' and nansferﬁng stock baSed on attorney
opmion letters authored by Halperin, one of Spongetech’s new attorneys In his letters,
Halperin opmed that the holders of the stock complled w1th the safe harbor provided by
Rule 144 of the Securities Act. o

92. Halperin issued ninety-two Rule 144. attorney Opinieh letters betw.een in
or aroulid June 2009 and approximately September 29, 2009, resulting in the removal
of restrictive legends from over 922 million shares of Sﬁongeteeh’s stock held by RM
Enterprises and other related entities such as Asset Manégement Enterprises,. AIT
_ Capital, and Wesley Equities. These entities functione(i as conduits for both the
unregistered distribution of Spongetech shares and the funneling of preeeeds from sales
of the shares back to RM Enterprises.

93. Each of Halperin’s letters opined that the transfer agent couI(i remove
the legends from restrictive shares because RM Enterprises, Asset Management
~ Enterprises, AIT Capital, or Wesley Equities had held the securities for six ’monv.ths or
longer.

94.  In fact, as Halperin knew, or was reckless in not knewing, for ninety-
eight percent of the shares, RM Eﬁterpri-ses, Asset Management Enterprises, AIT
Capital, and Wesley Equities had not lield the securities 'fer' Six iiienths or lon.ger.l |

95. For exaln}ile, on or,abeut June 24; 2009, Moskewitz mstructed

Worldwide Stock to issue 34,000,000 restricted Spongetech shares to RM-Enterprises ,
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n Share Certificate No. 3864. On that same day, Moskowitz ﬁsed Halpeﬁn’s letter and
instructed Worldwide Stock to remove restrictive legends from the shares and transfer
them to Diomede Corp. and Méremmano Corp.
96. Similarly, on or abb_ut June'29, 2009 and J uly.'10', 2009, Moskoﬁtz '
~ instructed Worldwide Stock to issue 10,000,000 restﬁcted Spongetech s.hgr’c_s' to RM _
Entérpriées n Share Certificate Nos. 3901 and 3902 and No. 4001. On July 8, 2009
and July 15, 2009, Moskowitz used Halperin’s letters to ins’truct Worldwide Stock to
remove restrictive legends from those share certificates and transfer the. now-.
~unlegended shares to aho_the; person, Myron Weiner. RM Enterprisés had held the
shares for approximétely nine days or fewer.

97.  Spongetech purported to issue the restricted shares to RM Enterprises in
repayment of approximately thirty-five purported loans that RM Enterprises had made |
to Spongetech betweer.l.]_)'ecember 31, 2007, and March 17, 2008. Under certain ._ .
circumstances where stock is issued to repay a loan, the holding period. for the stbck E
can be measured in reference to the date the loan 1s disbursed. Howevei’, Halperin

- knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that these loans had not actually been made and
that the purported loans, and the loan documents purporting to reflect them, were
_ shams.

98. At the earliest, fhe }iolding period for RM Enterprises’ rcstl'i(;t‘ed-sh.ares _
begén when Spongetech issued the shares to RM Enterprises, which was soinetimés as
ﬁﬂle as one day before Halperi'n’s opinion ietters caused the transfer égenf to femove’ :

- the restfictive legends from the stock for transfer to entities and persoi;s WilO sold them -

into the public market. Hal}ie_rin knew, or was reckless in not knowin& that RM
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Enterprises failed to meet the required "holding'pen'od under Rulé 144 of the Securitiés
Act.

99. _Halperin also issued nineteen letters after August 31, 2009, in which he
opined that the.transfef agent could refnove reétn'ctive legends because the public had
“adequate current information™ about Spoﬁgcﬁéch when 'the.tranSactions‘ took‘ place.

.This resulted in Worldwide Stock removing res,tn'cti\;e Ie'gén_ds from approximately
" 165,963,360 restricted Spongétech shares for 29 beneficiaries.

100. In fact, Spongetech had not ﬁlled 1ts ah_nuél report for fhe yéar ended
May 31, 2009, orissued any financial stateﬁlents since its last SEC filing in April 2009.
Halperin knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that the public thus did.not have
adequate curreﬁt ihfonnation about Spongetech and its ﬁnanéial condition.

101. | As Halperin knew, or was reckleés in not knowing, no valid exemption

from registration or safe harbor applied to the transacﬁbné relating to the 922 million
restricted Spéngetech shares, and the transactions wefe not registered.

- Stock Is Sold By Entities Affiliated with Metter and Moskowitz
In Unregistered Transactions

102. Haviﬁg improperl.y caused the transfer agents to remove festrictive _
- legends from restricted Spongetech shares, Metter, Moskowitz, Spongetech, and RM
‘ Entel'prisgs then distﬁbuted the shares through RM Eﬁteférises and other affiliates in
.mggstered tr_ansab_tions to. numerous o_thér person's and entities. B

103. Sbme of the entities to whom‘ RM Enterprises-and other affiliates -
. diéu_-ibﬁted 'sharés,‘ s,u;ﬁh as Flo Weinberg (wholly ownéd subsidiary of RM Enterprises); 7
_- TibUroh Capital Gfoup; D.L. Investménts (wholly owned by M_etter’s wife); ar'ld‘

Business Talk Radio (a Metter corporation), are closely affiliated with, or friendly to,
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Metter and Moskowitz. These entities, directly or indirectly, received shares or
proceeds frorri, Spongetech and RM Enterprises. They also, dire;:tly or indirectly, sent
proceeds to Spongetech and RM Enterprises resulting from improper, unregistered,
transactions. |

104.  In their capacity as officers of RM Enterprises, Metter and Moskowitz
signed multiple corporate resolutions approving the improper removal of restricted

‘l.egends from miilions of sharés of Spongetech stock, and the subsequent éssignment

'. and transfer of that stock to various entities and persons affiliated with Metter land
Moskowitz, such as Flo Weinberg, Tiburon Capital, D.L. Investments, and‘ Assét
Management Enterprises. |

| 105.  As the primary execﬁti've officers of Spongetech and RM Enterprises, "
Metter and Moskowitz direptly or indirectly controlled -Spongetech. and.RM
Enterprises. They possessed the pbwer and_ability to control Spdnge_tech’s and RM
Enterprises’ fraudulent conduct dcséribcd h¢rein.
106. Metter and Moskowitz, directly or indirectly, made millions of doilars in
profit from the sale of Spongetech shares that eventually were distributed to the public
market. | | |

SECTION 304 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

107. By virtue of miscohdﬁct, Defendant Spongctech filed the Ifol_lnov.ving peric;dic '
reports with the SEC which wére m material noncomplAiance witﬁ_ﬁnancial reporting
~ requirements under the sccuri.ties' léws_ inclﬁding 'G'enerall.y Aécepted Acc'o'unti_ng Pﬁnciplés
(“GAAP”):

o Form IO-QSB filed October 15, 2007 for the period ended Aug_ust 31,.2007;
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o. Form 10-QSB filed January 14, 2008 for the period ended November 30, 2007;

o Form 10-QSB filed April 15, 2008 for the period ended February 29, 2008;

o Form 10-KSB filed August 29, 2008 for the period en_ded May 31, 2008;

o. vForm-lll()-Q filed on October 15, 2008 for the period ended August 31, 2008;

o~ Form10-Q filed on Jaﬂuary 14,2009 for the period ended November 30, 2008;

o :F_onn 10-Q filed on April 20, 2009 for the period ended February 28, 2009.
Dué to Spongetech’s material noncompliance with its financial reporting requirements under the
securities laws, and as a result of misconduct, Spongetech is therefore required to prepare and
file aqcouﬁting restatements with the Commission for> these filings.

108. Defendants Metter and Moskowitz received bonuses and/or other in‘centivé-based
| aﬁd'equity-based compensation during the twelve months folloWing the filing with thé SEC of
 the foregoing periodic filings embodying financial reporting requirements. Additioﬁally,

i Moskowitz a.pd Metter realized profits from their sal(__as of Spbngefech securities during the
relevant peﬁodé. o

| 109 Defendants Metter and Moskowitz have not, as required by Section 304 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reimbursed Sp'ongetech for_the bonuses, compené'ation, and/or profits
realized during the relevant time period, and the SEC has not exempted Metter and Moskdwitz
| 'frbn_l the apblication of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-dxley Act, 15U.8.C. § 7243.
_ liO. By _enga;ging in the cohduct described above, Defendants Metter and MoskéWitz

. have violated Section 304(a) of the Sarbah_es-Oxley Act, 15U.S.C. § 7243(a). .
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FIRST CLAIM

Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities A.c.t

(Spqngetech, RM Enterpﬁses, Mettef, Moskowitz, Peh'sley, and Halperin)

111. Pa;agraphé 1-110 are hereby realleged and in_corpbrated by reference.

112; Defendanté Spon‘getech_, RM Enterprises, Metter,. Moskowitz, Pensiey,
and Halpérin have, direcflyo; indirectiy; singly or in coﬁc;eft; by use of ine_ans or
instrumentélities of transbor_tation or cbmmunication in interstate commerce or by use
of the mails, in the offer-or sale of securities: (é) knowingly or recklessly employed
devices, schemes or artifices to deﬁaud; (b) knowi’ngl_y, ri_ecklessly, or negligently
obtained money or property' by means of any untrue s_té_ltehlents of material fact, or have
omitted fo state material facts necessary in order to make the .stéte'ments'made, in Light
of the circumstances under__Whi_ch there_we_re made, not misleading; and (c) knowingly,
recklessly, or négli gently engaged in fransactions, practices, or courses iof bﬁsiness
which.operated or would operate asa ﬁaud' or deceit upon the purchasers'of se_burities.

113. By engaging in the conduct described ébdve, Defendants Spongetech,
RM Enterprises, Metter, MoSkoWitz? Speranza, Pensley, _ahd Halperin Violz_lted Section
17(a) ofthe'sécum_ies Act[15US.C. § 774(a)].

SECOND CLAIM

Violations of EX’change Act Sécti_on 110(b) and Rule 10b-5 - -

(Spongetech, RM Enterprises, Metter, MoSkowitz, SperanZa, Pensley, and Halperin)
114. . Pafagraphs 1-1 10 are héreby realleged and',incorpora,ted by réferencé.
115. Defendants Spongetech, RM Enterprises, Metter, Méskc_wvitz, Speranza,

Pensley, and Halperin have, diiectly or indirectly, singly or in concert, by use of means
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or instrumentalities of transportation or"communication in interstate commerce or by
use of the mails, or any facility .of any national s'e'cux_‘ities exchange, knowingly or |
recklessly, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities: (a) employed devices,
schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material fact or B |
‘omissions to state meterial facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in -
- light of the circumstances .under which there were made, not_misleading; and (c)
~engaged in acts, practices, or coursee of business which operated or would operate .as a
fraud or deceit upen others.

116. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Spongetech,
RM Enterprises, Metter, Moskowitz, Speranza, Pensley, and Halperin violated Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17CFR.§ 240'1%', |

5], thereunder.

THIRD CLAIM

Control Person Liability for Violations of
Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

(Metter and .Moskovsv/itz)

117. Paragraphs 1 — 110 are hereby realleged and incorporated by. reference.

118. D.efendan.ts Metter and Moskowitz, as the primary executive ofﬁeers of |
SpongeteCh ‘and RM Enterpriées, (é) directly or indirectly controlled Spoﬁgeteeh and
RM. Enterprises; (b) possessed the power and ability te control Spongetech and RM }
Enterpriées as to their violatiene of Exchange Act Section' 10(1_)) and Rule 105-5_; (c)
- were in some mearﬁngful sense cﬁlpable parﬁcipants in Spongetech’s-and RM
Enterprisés’ violations of Exchange Act Section IO(b) and Rule 10b-5, ineluding by

" knowingly and recklessly authorizing, and causing, Spongetech to issue false and
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misleading statements in press releases and pubﬁc filing, and by léilo“dngly and
recklessly causing Spongetech to illegally distribute restricted shares to the public
markét through RM Ehterprises n unregiétered transactions.
, 119. Defendants Metter and Moskowitz are jointly Vand severally liablé wuh
~and to the same éxtcnt as Spongetech and RM EnterpriSé for Spongetech’s and RM
Enterprises’ violations of Exchange Act Seéﬁon 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, as stated above
in the Second Claim for Relief. | |
120. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Metter and

. »'Moékowitz violated, .Secti.on 20(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U;S;C. § 78t(a)] by
controlling, and‘po’s_sessing the power and ability to control, Sponget'ech énd RM
Enterpriées in their viol.ations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

FOURTH CLAIM

Aiding and Abetti_ilg Violations bf Eﬁéhange Actv Section 16(b) and Rule 10b-5
(Speranza)
121. Pafagraphs 1-110 afe hereby realleged and inCorborated by reference.
122, -Defendaht-Speranza knowingly providéd substantial assistance to
Spongétech,‘ Metter, ahd Moskowitz in those Defend;mts’ violations éf Secﬁon 10(b) of
. the Exchange Act and Exch‘ang(.e Act Rule 10b-5, as stated above in the Third Claim for |
Relief. | | | |
123. ‘By en'gagiﬁg in'the conduct de.scribed above, Defeﬁdant Speranza
' violated Sebti_én 20(e). of tﬁé Exchange Act[15US.C. § 78t(e)] by'aiding and abetting

'violations’of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.
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FIFTH CLAIM

Violations of Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act '

(Spongetech, RM Enterprises, Metter, Moskowitz, Pensley, and Halperin)

124. P'ara.graphs 1 — 110 are hereby realleged and incorporated by refer_ehce. |

125. Defendants Spongétech, RM Enterprises, Metter, Mosko.witz,‘ Penslgy,
and Halperin directly or indirectlyj.,sing'ly or in concert with others: (2) without a
registration statement in effect as to the sécurities transactions, (1) made use of the
means or instfumentalﬁies of transportation'or_-communication o.r the mails in intérstate
commerce to sell s_equﬁfies.tluough the use or mediurﬁ of a prospectus or otherwise, or
(11) carried or caused to be carried such securiti'es for the purpose of sale or for delivery
after sale; and (b) made use of the‘ means' or instrumentalities of transportation or
communication or the mails in interstate commerce to offer to sell orroffer to buy
through the use or medium of 2 prosp,ect__urs or otherwise securities as tor which a
registration statement had not been ﬁlec.lla's to such securities.

126. By éngaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Spongetech,
RM Enterprises, Metter, Moskowitz, Pensley, and Halperin violated Sections 5(a) and

(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77e(a) & (c)].

SIXTH CLAIM

Yiolations of Exchange Act Sectioh 15(d) and
Rules 12b-20, 15d-1, 15d-11, and 15d-13 and Aiding and Abetting

) (Spongetech, Metter, and Moskowitz)
127.  Paragraphs 1 — 110 are hereby realleged and .incorpo‘rated by reference.
128.  Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act and Rules 15d-1, 15d-11,-and 15d-13

réqui_re issuers with an gffectivé Securities Act registration statement to file with the
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Commission accurate periodic reports. Rule 12b-20 of the E%(chénge Act requires that
periodic repoﬁs contain any additional material informatién necessary to make the
required statements made in the reports not mateﬁally misleading.

129. | Defenda.ﬁt Spongetech filed reports With.thé Commission that contained
materially false énd misleading statements and information, and failed to include :

~ additional material ﬂecess_éry to make the statements and infonnéﬁon, in light of the ‘
circumstances in whic;h they were made, not misleading, in violation of Section 15(d)

" of fhe-Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 15d-1, 15d—1 1, énd 1.5d—.13 the Exchange Act.

B 130. = Defendants Metter and Moskowitz knowingly provided substantial
assiétanée to Defendant Spongetech. in the commission of these violations.
| 131. By reason of the foregoing, Defendént Spongetech violated Section

15(d) Qf the Exghanée Act and Rules 12b-20, 15d-1, 15d-11, and 15d-13 t.hé.Exchal-lge

Act, and Defendants Metter and Moskowitz violated Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act

[15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)] by aiding and abetting those violations.

SEVENTH CLAIM

" Violations of Exchange Act Section 13(a) and
Rule 13a-13 and Aiding and Abetting

(Spongetech, Metter aﬁ_d Moskowitz) |
132. " Péragréphs 1—-110 are herc;by realnleged and in;:orporaiediby reference.
133.  Section 13(a) and Rul¢ 13a-13 of the Exchange Act requires issues w1th
secuﬁties registered pur',Suant to Section 12 of thei Eichange Act torﬁle quarterly repo.rts.v ‘
w1ththe CommiSsio'n. Defendant Spongétech failed to file with the SEC such repdrts.
| ' ‘ 134. De_feﬁdanté Metter and Moskowitz knowingly proyided substantial |

aSsi'stancé to Defendant Spongetech in the commission of these violations.
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135. By reason of the forégoin_g, D.efendant Spongetech violated Section
13(a) and Rule 13a-13 of thé Exchange Act, and Defendants Metter and Moskowitz
violated Section 20(e) of the Exéha'nge Act[15U.S.C. § 78t(e)] by aiding and abetting

those violations.

EIGHTH CLAIM

~ Violations of Ekéhénge Act Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) and Aiding and
o | Abetting
| ‘(Spqngetech, Metter, and Moskowitz)
136. Paragrép}is 1 — 110 are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference.
137. D_efenda_nt Spongctech _féﬁled to (i) maintain and keep books, records,
| and accounts, which, in reasonablé detail, accur.atelyrand fairly reflected the
transactions and dispositiohs of its éssefs, and (ii) devise and maintain a s;ystem o_f
intemal accounting controls sufﬁcient té_provides reasonable assurances that: (a)
transactions were recolrded.e;e necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
conf_omiity with generally éc'cepted accounting principles or any other criteria
applicable to such statements, and to maintain accountability for assets; and (b) the
recorded acco_untabilifty for aésets was compared with the éxisting assets af reasonabl.e N
intervals and appropriate act:ion Waé taken w1th respect to any differences..
138. | Defend@té :'Me.ttc-er and Moskowitz knowingly provided subs_téntial
 assistance to Defendant Spongetech in -the. coﬁlmission of these violations. '
139. ‘B_y enggging in the conduct aescﬂbed above,_Defendént Spongetech
violated Sections 13(b)(2)(A) aﬁd 13(b)(2)(B) bf the Exchangé Aét, aﬁd De_feﬁdants :

Metter and Moskowitz v'ibIated Section 20(6) of the Excharge Act [15 US.C. § 78t(e)].
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by aiding and abetting those violations.

NINTH CLAIM

Violations of Exchange Act Sections 13(b)(5) And Exchange Act Rule 13b2_Q1
| - (Metter and Moskowitz)
140, Paragfaphs 1-110 are nereby realleged and incorporated by referénce.
| 141. Defendants Metter, and Moskowitz knoWingiy circumvented or

knowingly failed to implement a system of int.erna‘l accounting controls or knowingly
- falsified, directly or indireétly, or caused to be falsified, books, records, or accounts of
Spongetech maintained pursuant to Exchénge Ac.t_S._éc‘tiQn 13(5)(-_2) [15 U.S.C._ §
78m(2)], and directly or indirectiy falstfied or 'caused _tn be falsiﬁed books, records, or.
accounts nf Spongetech that were subject to Exchange Act Section 13(b)(2)(A).

142. By engaging in the conduct deseribed ébove, Defendants Metter and
Moskowitz violated Section 13(b)(5) of fhe Exéhange Act and Exchange Act Ruie
13b2-1.

TENTH CLAIM -

Violétions of Exchange Act Rule 15d-14
C\?Ietter and Moskowifz) - |
143. Paragraphs 1-110 _afe hereby realleged _and_i'ncbrporated by referenne.
- 144. ,. Defendants Metter and Moskowitz, directly or indifectly, éig’ncd-
B pe;sonal certifications indicaﬁng that they had"réviewed Spongetech’s periodic reports
containing financial statements ﬁi_ed with fhe SEC vp.'u.rs.uant to Section 15(d) of ihe
Exchange Act and that (a) based on their i;nowledge, fhese repbrfs do not contain any

 untrue statements of material fact or omit to state a rnatéri_al fact necessary to make the
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statefn’ents made, in light of the circumstances under which éuch sfatement’s were made,
not misleading with respect to the periods covered by the reports; (b) Based on their
knowledge, that information contained in these reports fairly present, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of Spongetech’s operations; and (c) that
they had disclosed to Spon'g_etech’s auditors all significant deficiencies in internal
controls and all instances of fraud. Defendants Metter and Moskowitz knew or should
‘have known that these certifications were false.

145. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Metter and
Moskowitz violated _Eichange Act Rule 15d-14. '-

ELEVENTH CLAIM

Violations of Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2
| (Moskowitz) |

146.. Paragraphs 1 — 110 are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference.

147. Defendant. Moskowitz, a Spongetech officer and director, (1) made or
caused to be made materially false or misleading statements to Spongetech’s auditors, :
or omitted to reveal material facts necessary to make statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such stateme_nfs were made, not misleading, to its auditor in
connection with an audit or reviéw of Spongetech’s financial statements or dbcuments .
or reports required to be filed with the SEC, and (2) directly or indirectly acted to |
.ma;m'pulate, mislead, or frau_dulently influence Spongetech’s auditors as in the
pérformance of an audit or revie‘W of Spongetech’s ﬁnéncial statelﬁents or documents
offeports required to be filed with the SEC, knowing thét such acﬁons, 1f sucéessfui,

could result in_r_endering.Spongetech’s financial statements materially misleading.
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148. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendant Moskowitz
violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Exchange Act

Rule 13b2-2. | D

TWELFTH CLAIM

Violations of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 .
(Spongeteéh, Metter, and Moskowitz)
~149. | Paragraphs 1 — 110 are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference.

150.. By virtue of misconduct,-Défendant Spongetech filed the folloWing peribdic
reports with the SEC which were in material nonébmpliance with financial reporting
reqhirements under the secuﬁﬁeé laws including Generally Accepted Accqunting Principles
(“GAAP?): |

o -Foﬁn 10-QSB filed Oqtober 15, 2007 for the period ended August 31, 2007; |

o Form 10-QSB filed January 14, 2608 for the period ended November 30, 2007;

o Form 10-QSB filed April 15, 2008 for the peﬁod ended F ebruary 29, 2008; -

o Form 10-KSB filed August 29,>2008 for the period ended May 31, 2008;

o Form 10-Q filed on October 15, 2008 for the period ended August 31, 2008;

o Form 10-Q ﬁled on January 14, 2009 for the period ended November 30, 2008;.

o .Form 10-Q filed on Apﬁl 20, 2009 for the period ended February 28, 2009.
- Due to Spongetech’s material nothmplianée with ‘its financial reporting reqﬁirenients under. the
: -seélir_iiie_s laws, and as a result of miscondupt, Spongetech is therefore required to prepare and
.ﬁle.r aécouhting restatements with the Commission for the_sé filings. |

151. | .Defendan.ts Metter and Moskowitz receiiled bonuses and/or other incentive-based

- and equity-based compensation during the twelve months following the filing with the SEC of -
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the foregoing periodic filings embodying financial _reporting requifer_nents. Additionally,
Moskowitz and Metter realized profits from their sales of Spongetech securities during the
relevant periods.

152.. Defendants Metter and Moskowitz have not, as required by Section 304 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reimbursed Spon.getech for the bbnuses, compensation, and/or profits
realized during the relevant time pen'o_d, and the SEC has not exempted Metter and Moskowitz
from the application of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7243.

153. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Metter and Moskowitz
havevviolated Section 304(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 1 5 US.C. .§ 7243(a).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully reduests that this Court enter an
order:

a) preliminarily and pérmanently enjoining Deféndént .SpongetleCh from
violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c) ahd 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C.
§§ 77e(a), 77¢e(c) & 77q(a)] and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A),
13(b)(2)(B), and 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a),
78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(2)(B)], and 780(d), and Exchange Act Rules 10b-
5,12b-20, 13a-13 and.15d-1, 15d-11, and 15d-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-
5,12b-20, 13a-1 & 13a-13, 154-1, 15d-11, and 154-13];

b) | preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendant RM Ente'rp_rises ﬁom
violating Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Sec__un'ties Aét [15U.S.C. §§
77e(a),- 77e(c) & 77d(a)], Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §

78j(b)] and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5];
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c¢) preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendant Steven Moskowitz
from violating Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act,
Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, Exchange Act Rules
10b-5, 13b2-1, 13b2-2, and 15}d—14, and Section 304 of the Sarbanes- |
Oxley Act of 2002, from aiding and abétting violations of Sections 13(#),»
| .13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 15(d) of the Exchange Act and Exchange
Act Rules 12b-20, 13a-13, 15d-1, 15d-11, and 15d-13; |
d) preliminarily and penﬁanently enjoining Defendant Michael Metter from
violating Sections S(a), 5(0), and 17(a) of the Securities Act, Sections
10(b) and 13(b)(5).of the Exchange Act, Exchahge Act Rules 10b-5,
13b2',1’ 13b2-2, and 15d-.1 4, and Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a),
13(b)(2)(A), -13(b)(2)(B), and 15(d) of the Exchange Act é.nd Exchange
Act Rules 12b-20, 13a-13, 15d-1, 15d-11, and 15d-13; |
e) preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendant George Speranza from
violating Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rule 10b-
5, and from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 10(b) of the
Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5; |
f) preliminarily and peﬁnahently enj 6ining Defendants Joel Pensley and Jack.
Hélperin from violati.ng' S_éctions 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Seém‘ities
| Act; Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5;
g)  that Defendanfs Spongefech, RM Enterprises, Metter, Moskowitz,

- Speranza, Pensley, and Halperin. pay civil penalties under Section 20(d) of
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vthe Securities Act [15 _UV.SV.C'.‘ § 77t(d)]. and Section 2,1 (d)(3) of the

~ Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)];

)

that Defendants Spongetech.,‘RM Enterprises, Metter, Moskowitz,

Speranza, Pensley, and Halperin disgorge, with prejudgment interest, any .

- ill-goftéh'_gains and provide an accoiniting of monies and shares of

~-Spongetech stock that they received and the djsposition of such monies
_ and stock;

~ permanently barring Defendanfs Metter and Moskowitz, pursuant to

Section 20(e) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(e)] and Section
21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)], from serving as an

officer or director of any issuer that has a class of securities registered

-~ pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 781] or that is

)

k)

r'required_' to file reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchaxige Act[15

U.S.C. § 780(d)];

prohibiting Defendants Metter, Moskowitz, Speranza, Pensley, and

- Halperin from engaging in any offering of penny stock pursuant to

Securities Act Section 20(g) [15 US.C. § 77t(g)] and Exchange Act
Section 21(d)(6) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(6)]; |

that Defendants Metter and Moskowitz forfeit any bonuses or incentive-

‘based or equity-based compensation, and profits obtained from the sale of

' Asponrge'tech securities as required by Section 304 of the Sarbanés-Oxley

' Act of 2002 [15US.C. § 7243], to the extent such proceeds are not

 otherwise ordcred to b_e'd.isgorged;'
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1) preliminarily and penﬁanentiy freeze the assets of Defendants Spongetech,
RM Enterprises, Metter, and Moskowitz to retain such assgts for
distributions to the Victilﬁs of the scheme; |
preliminarily and penﬁaneﬂﬂy bar Defendants Pensley and Halperin from-
providing prqfessional sewices to any person or entity in Conne(':tion.with
the offer or sale or securities, Iincludin_g but not limited to;-pax_'tici:;.).a.ting m
the preparation or issuénée of ﬁny attorhey oﬁinion le&er relatéd to such
offerings; and

m) grant such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
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Washington, D.C. 20549-4030
202-551-4492 (Simpson)
202-772-9245 (Simpson fax)

L hspiea L pTE AT



